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The Bedouins in the Palestinian-Zionist Struggle at the Beginning of the British Mandate: 1920–1929

Abstract 

This article explains causal factors of the Arab riots during the 1920ies and the reasons some Bedouin tribes joined in. It provides an overview of the “events” development:  the conflict between the Palestinians and the Jews and the responses of British authorities, including local, national and regional aspects, especially in the political arena. It investigates the political stances developed among the local Bedouin tribes regarding the Zionist-Palestinian struggle and the reasons for stance diversity among the Bedouins. The article describes the methods and resources used by both Palestinian and Jews, and the response of the British to various events. The last section presents a summary of the diversity in the Bedouins’ stance, as some tribes took active part in the “events” on the Palestinian side, others were neutral and  few tribes chose to ally with the Jews, or at least warn them of forthcoming attacks. These stances, consolidated in this period affected “events” that took place in the Great Palestinian revolt, 1936-9 and the behavior of these groups during the war of 1948.
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Introduction   

This article focuses on an important social and cultural Arab minority—the Bedouins—and their part in the historical events that occurred in the first decade of the 30-year period British Mandate in Palestine/EI, events that focused regional and international attention on the growing conflict between the Zionist movement and the fledgling national Palestinian movement. For historical and political reasons, the complex minorities issue in the Middle East is often in the media and in international circles. In the Ottoman Empire several ethnic groups moved about for various reasons. In addition, Ottoman governors initiating population change and moved large communities from one part of the Empire to another.1 

Until the end of the 19th century, Bedouins were the region’s “road masters”: they provided transportation means and services, possessed water sources and rest facilities and provided armed escorts to travelers. Tribes without such income resources raided merchant caravans, travelers, and settlements. As nomadic herders, they targeted mostly rural agricultural areas to expel farmers (fellahin), expand their roaming territory and access water sources.2 The dramatic development of roads and railways in the late 19th century left several Bedouins tribes frustrated; they became quarrelsome, fought each other for territory and terrorized rural areas, especially in lush valleys with reliable water sources.3 Most Bedouin tribes living in northern Palestine/EI during the late Ottoman rule and the early time of the British mandate, came over via southern Syria and Transjordan in the 17th and 18th centuries; while tribes residing in the center came from the north and east, and those in southern Palestine/EI and the Negev primarily came from the Sinai desert or from the Arabian Peninsula via south Jordan. However, during the 19th century, new ethnic groups from Africa were brought to Palestine/EI by the authorities, and other non-Arab Muslim groups migrated from the Caucasus and the Balkans.4 

During the British Mandate (1918–1948), the Bedouins in Palestine/EI were a nomadic minority roaming among permanently settled residents. Their relative ratio varied between 6% and 14% of the country’s population. During the Ottoman rule, various Bedouin sheikhs established relations with authorities, while other Bedouins tribes formed alliances with other minorities in the country. In 1947, the Bedouin population in Palestine/EI was estimated at 70,000–90,000, comprising 7–9% of the country’s non-Jewish population.5
In the early 1920s, the Bedouins in mandatory Palestine/EI did not belong to an Arab political group; they lived within their traditional framework and had limited connection with the politics of other Arabic-speaking groups. Although some Bedouin leaders established relations with the Ottoman authorities, most despised the regime and were grateful to the British for dispelling them. Therefore, when the British took over, most Bedouin tribes cooperated with them to a degree, hoping to establish good relations with the new administration, and at least initially, they were rewarded, as the British tended to support them in land disputes especially those that occurred with Jewish settlers of newly purchased land, deals that did not take the Bedouins tenants into consideration. 6 
On 1918, the British conquered Palestine/ER. The regime change led to substantial change in the relations between the Bedouin and authorities, since at the early stage of the British mandate the Bedouins received official assistance: the British established Bedouin courts, recognized Bedouin law, 7 established Bedouin schools,8 and provided assistance during droughts. Unlike most Palestinian nationalists, especially those supporting the pan-Arab idea, many Bedouin tribes had good economic and neighborly relations with the Jewish population. While they had little contact with the Palestinian urban society, most Bedouin elite, sheikhs, and family heads lived in affluent stone houses and enjoyed a prestigious status among both Jewish neighbors and British officials. This esteemed status not only enabled them to better serve their tribal interests, but also exposed them to various pressures due to higher expectations of peers, neighbors, and the authorities. Historical developments led the Bedouins to integrate into the country’s alliances and rivalries, driving them to cooperate with neighbors against non-local hostile factors. In time, various Bedouin tribes became part of different sets of obligation. The difference between the relations established by various Bedouin tribes and both the authorities and parts of the Jewish population formed the foundation to the unique social and political status of the Bedouins in the civil and cultural fabric of modern Israel. This article investigates the beginning of these developments and their implications on Bedouins status in the State of Israel.
In the early days of the British Mandate, the Bedouins perceived the authorities friendly and supportive, due to their favorable approach toward tenants of lands purchased by Jews from distant registered owners, as was the case in the land disputes in Beit-Shean and in the area of Wadi Al-Hawarith. Approach of the British regime towards their rights convinced Bedouin leaders that cooperating with the authorities was advisable. Furthermore, the British legislated the sharecroppers’ law, which recognized the rights of tenant farmers for compensation when land ownership and conditions had changed. However, as the Jews continued to purchase land, disputes occurred more frequently, and eventually, Bedouins who lost their livelihood identified with the Palestinian cause. 9 Thus, in the riots that spread throughout the country in 1919–1921, and again in 1929, some Bedouin tribes participated in violent attacks on Jews and in attacks directed at British authorities. Some actively participated in these attacks, while others provided aid and shelter.10  as Bedouin tribes that had previous alliances with Palestinian groups, were inclined to participate in these violent incidents the Zionist narrative termed “the events”.11 Other tribes participated because they held grudges against settlers who purchased lands they used to roam or were moved by the anti-colonialist fervor against Britain. Moreover, some Bedouins wanted to return to their domination of the land, and so their joining in the attacks can also be attributed, in part, to that objective, however, Bedouin tribes that had previous good relations with specific Jewish groups chose to remain neutral and in some cases even warned their Jewish friends from a forthcoming attack.12
Period records indicate that no side attempted to understand the other; thus, descriptions intended to be neutral became part of the propaganda. For example, Jewish sources showed no intention of accepting that the Arab riots broke due to nationalist motivation. The Jewish media tended to describe the “events” as resulting from incitements on social grounds, as reflected in a comment by Berl Katznelson, one of the leaders of the Jewish community in the land and the editor of a major Hebrew newspaper: “The Effendis incite people against people for class interest”.13 At the same time, the Arab media and communications described the Zionists as aiming to destroy religion in Arab countries and spread communism and anarchy.14 Both the Jews and the Arabs realized the British Mandate was temporary, and eventually, the sovereignty issue would be decided between them. The 1920s riots may have started as a backlash of the Lebanon riots, but they were also fed by local events. For example, the 1920 The riots that started after the Nabi Mussa celebrations in Jerusalem and other towns where Jews and Arabs lived side by side, the riots that broke in Jaffa in May 1921 and the pogrom in Hebron in the summer of 1929. 15     Another violent chain of incidents occurred in response to an act by the British and French mandatory regimes, who in 1920 changed the international border between Lebanon under the French and Palestine/EI under the British mandate in the Galilee, which cut people off from their family and land. This development damaged the trust of the people; it offended many, harmed others and created a new political situation. Thus, during the “events” of the 1920s, some Bedouin groups joined in the attacks on Jewish people, some remained neutral, and others warned their Jewish neighbors about forthcoming attacks and offered help. 16 Attacks on Jews in the 1920s were diversified: organized attacks on specific villages or urban neighborhoods culminated in massacres in Hebron and the old city of Jerusalem alongside sporadic attacks were undertaken against individuals and small groups spotted alone or isolated with no help available; some attacks involved shooting at distant targets while others involved violence, looting, and robberies. Attacks on transportation and hit-and-run incidents also took place. Bedouins in Palestine/EI participated only in attacks that occurred in rural areas; they also participated in road ambushes and in shooting at passing cars. In response, the British strengthened disciplinary actions and issued decrees against possessing firearms without a permit, measures carried out against Arabs and Jews alike. Tension between the Bedouins and Jews was always somewhat present, due to rapidly expanding Jewish settlements in uncultivated and unclaimed areas the Bedouins had once used for grazing. Thus, many Bedouin tribes supported the rising Palestinian nationalism, although others maintained amicable relations with Jewish friends. These relations were based on personal dealings Bedouins had with Jewish individuals, mostly people they met in the fields, such as the Haganah commanders, field-guards, members of the Ha-Shomer, and their employers. They also established relations of other types, such as with physicians and agriculture specialists. 17 

The most meaningful relations between Jews and Bedouins existed at the local level, mostly with the younger generation, the sons of Jewish settlers. People who were born on the land, like Moshe Dayan, Yigal Alon, Giora Zaid, Haimke Levkov Sasson Bar Zvi, and Beni Motilov (Meitiv), who spoke Arabic, knew and respected the Bedouin culture and manners and, in turn, the Bedouins respected and trusted them. These young people, along with other Arabists and young academics like Eliahu Epstein (Eilat), Pesach Bar-Adon, and Tuvia Ashkenazi, created a network of acquaintances throughout the country, including Bedouin leaders in Transjordan. They established contacts with Bedouin sheikhs and other leaders and established personal relations with Bedouin families and individuals. Thus, while some Bedouins were involved in violent attacks on Jewish individuals, transportation and villages, others maintained good relations, shared resources and cooperated with their Jewish neighbors. These good relations bore fruit during the war of 1948, forming the basis for the authorities’ positive attitude toward the Bedouins in the State of Israel. 18 
A. Conflict and Neutrality of the Bedouins in the 1919–1921 “Events”

A.1.  The 1919–1921 “events” in Upper Galilee

In the winter of 1919 following the British withdrawal from parts of Galilee, riots in the adjacent French Territories (in Lebanon) spilled over to eastern Upper Galilee. The wave of violence that started with Lebanese Shiite militants’ attacks on Jewish and Christian villages and official French subjects continued with attacks on the Jewish village of Tel-Hai, which local Arabs and Bedouins joined. Hundreds of locals joined the riots and attacked other nearby Jewish settlements: Metula, Malha and Hamra. The attacks led to the temporary evacuation of the Jewish town of Metula and the Kfar Giladi and Hamra villages. 19 
In spring 1920, a wave of raids and riots accompanied by robberies and murder spread across Galilee, endangering the existence of Jewish communities. Although the riots started as a spill-over from territories under the French Mandate in the north (Syria and Lebanon), under the British Mandate, they intensified and spread. At first, most riots affected northern rural areas; Jewish settlements in Upper and Lower Galilee were subjected to raids, attacks, and robberies. At the end of March 1920, gangs of Bedouins attacked the Jewish settlements of Rosh-Pinna, Yesod Ha’maala, Mishmar Ha’Yarden, Mahanayim, and Ein Zeitim. Livestock were plundered, and farmers were attacked and murdered. The attackers soon learned the British were not defending the Jews, so their attacks intensified. Rumors spread that thousands of Bedouins from Horan (in southern Syria) were going to join the attacks. However, when the Jews realized the authorities would not intervene, the largest Jewish organized defense organization, the Haganah (which the British considered illegal), sent armed reinforcements to Galilee.20
British authorities, represented mostly by sparsely staffed police stations, did nothing to stop the robberies, not even those carried out under the noses of British colonial troops such as the Indian units of the British army who were deployed on Bnot Yaa’cov Bridge21 and held the post on its western side. However, they did avert completely Bedouin attacks from the east (Syria). On the year 1920, the security situation deteriorated as transportation on most Galilee roads was attacked daily, especially between Tiberias and the Jewish communities in eastern Galilee. Late on February 27, 1920, a small group of pioneers who founded kibbutz Ayelet Ha’Shahar, comprising 25 men and 6 women, was attacked by 80–100 armed Arabs. The defenders had few weapons available. The fighting lasted until dawn. By sunrise, a reinforcement of armed Jewish Haganah members reached the kibbutz, and soon afterwards a British officer arrived with troops. The attackers subsequently withdrew. The assailants were a small group of Bedouins from the Arab Al-Hib and Arab Al-Krad tribes and fellow Bedouins from Transjordan. The British arrested the leader of the Arab Al-Hib attackers and several of his men and confiscated their rifles.22  A few days later the village Yesod Ha’Ma’ala, south-west of the Hula Lake was attacked; it had been attacked repeatedly despite the nearby presence of an Indian guard compound. However, the very same Indian border guards assigned to guard the Bnot Yaakov Bridge on the border with Syria protected the small village Mishmar Ha’Yarden, located southwest of the bridge, from attacks of Syrian Bedouins. By autumn 1920, the riots ceased, and normal life in Galilee resumed. A large unit of Haganah members fortified the Jewish settlements. The British also enforced law and order and sent gendarmes and special units of mounted police to eastern Galilee to assist border police. Police patrols became regular and more effective. Normalization was also facilitated by the French suppressing the riots in their adjacent territories and deporting riot leaders. By September, Jewish settlers returned to the ruins of Tel-Hai and rebuilt Kfar Giladi; Hamra was never rebuilt.23
A.2. The attacks in the Jordan Valley and Lower Galilee 

In March 1920, armed gangs raided Jewish settlements in the Jordan Valley and eastern Lower Galilee, targeting people in fields and on roads and stealing livestock and crops. Cultivated fields were grazed upon by herds and trampled by horses and camels. The Bedouins undertook many of these attacks, including invading the Hourani tribes.24 Historical records show these attacks did not occur spontaneously; many were directed by the central committee of the Palestinian people assembled in Damascus, which orchestrated the “events” in Galilee. Messengers were sent to incite Arab villagers and Bedouins and encourage them and the fellahin to attack Jews, promising easy victories and profit.25 
In mid-April, armed Bedouins from southern Syria attacked Indian border guards stationed in Al-Hama.26 On April 20, members of the Arab Al-Azawiya tribe attacked Beit–Shean (a town of mixed population) but were forced to retreat by the British army. On April 24, 1920, a concentrated attack occurred on the small mixed town of Tsemah and the railway junction. Several days earlier, groups of armed Arabs, accompanied by women and children, eager to obtain the expected loot, had been seen around Tsemah near a major crossroad of the Haifa-Damascus Hejaz train station and goods storage. The town, a commercial and administrative center, housed a police station and border police compound. Most administrative and train company employees were local Jewish residents.27 

The attack on Tsemah was not a mob attack — it was carefully planned. On the preceding night, assigned units damaged railway and telegraph lines, preparing for the attack. However, the town was prepared, defenders dug trenches, blocked two roads leading to Tsemah and organized their defense. The local Haganah organization, under the command of Yosef Nahmani, established headquarters in Porriyah and sent mounted guard reinforcements. The Tsemah train station was an important British post, so the British deployed local forces, police, and the Indian military unit, and distributed firearm to Jewish defenders. In the morning of April 24, the attackers stormed Tsemah. According to official announcements, the combined fellahin and Bedouin forces were over two thousand strong, but the unofficial estimate was five thousand. The attack was led by cavalry units, followed by semi-ordered infantry, flanked by looters. The first wave was stopped by Indian military units entrenched behind the railway station, waiting until the attackers closed in so they could surprise them with fire from rifles, machine guns and aerial support. The attackers dispersed in panic, and the Indian cavalry and Jewish defenders finished off the stragglers and escapees.28
Few days later, frenzied mobs of fellahin and Bedouins attacked the Menahamiya and the two Dganya villages in the Jordan valley. On the night prior to the attack, the Bedouins and their allies assembled for the big battle. They attacked the village Menahamiya and the two kibbutzim of Dganya. Dganya A was an established kibbutz that had a few stone buildings, and its residents felt more secure and confident regarding their defensive ability, as a result. When they were informed about the expected attack, they dug trenches, armed themselves, and waited for the attackers On the day the battle took place, the residents of Dganya B, a relatively new kibbutz, were not sure of their ability to withstand an attack, so they evacuated the kibbutz, set it on fire, withdrew to the nearby Dganya A, and joined the defenders there. Later, an armed reinforcement from the village of Yavneel also reached Dganya A and joined the defense. The attacking Bedouins entered the abandoned kibbutz, put out the fire and took whatever was left. The residents of the village of Menahamiya also lost confidence after the night attack; they dug trenches, but as firearms were few, they decided to send the women and children with armed escorts to Yavneel, while the rest stayed to defend the village. Those who sought shelter in Yavneel encountered an armed Arab unit on their way, and two of the armed escorts were killed.29 
The battle in Tsemah lasted for almost seven hours; several Bedouins and 20 Indian guards were killed. The battle ended after British aerial support arrived and bombed the attackers, who withdrew chaotically and dispersed; however, some retreating Bedouins re-organized, and on the following day, attacked the Jewish village of Bnei-Yehuda, east of lake Kinneret. The only fatalities of that attack were the Bernstein family. The Bernsteins and the two Menahamiya guards were the only Jews to die in all the attacks that occurred during the three-day conflict.30 In retrospect one could argue that the attack on Tsemah may have occurred in response to British attempts to maintain control and end disputes between the Jordan Valley Bedouins and the fellahin of both sides of Jordan. However, as often happened, neither side liked the intervention, and rather than fighting the British police, they joined forces and attacked the Jews.31 The Bedouins had been certain their attack would be successful, so much so, the sheikhs from both sides of the Jordan river, agreed in advance on the share of the loot and women each would receive after the victory, even before the first shot was fired. They were surprised when the attack was intercepted, and the grand operation failed.32  
As weapons were distributed to Jews in rural areas and authorities placed an army camp north of lake Kinneret, people living in the eastern valleys and lower Galilee felt more secure. However, the attacks did not cease; they merely shifted to the Jezreel Valley, to small settlements near the Wadi Malek highway, not far from the coast, and settlements between Hadera and Wadi Ara. The attackers, fellahin and Bedouins alike, sometimes separately and sometimes in collaboration, would assemble toward evening, attack the marked Jewish village, and vanish into the night. Many lived locally and would return home; non-locals were welcomed in nearby Arab villages. One of the major events of that time was the attack on the Jewish village Kfar Tabor, near Mount Tabor. On May 26, 1920, mules were stolen from a Kfar Tabor farmer. The success of the theft that went unpunished encouraged neighboring Bedouins and fellahin to attack the village in broad daylight.33 Approximately 100–200 armed men, fortified by local Arabs, actively participated, while women and children congregated in the fields nearby and waited. The villagers survived the attack but realized they were not safe and appealed to the authorities for help. A few nights later, while the British mounted guards patrolled the fields near Kfar Tabor, they heard warning shots, after which a horseman arrived to announce the village herd had been stolen. They later learned the shepherds hired to care for the herd were Al-Zbih tribe Bedouins who helped the thieves smuggle the herd to Transjordan. The chasing party, comprising the British mounted police and villagers, pursued the thieves to Wadi Fajas, where they were ambushed by the armed thieves. One of the Jewish pursuers was killed, and two others were wounded. As the British patrol received no reinforcement and the thieves were helped by local Arabs, the chasing party retreated to Kfar Tabor with their casualties. After time and negotiations, a substantial ransom was paid and most of the herd was retrieved. 34
     The theft of the Kfar Tabor herd was the last incident that occurred between Arabs and Jews at that time and place in which Bedouins were involved. As Arab villages were also raided occasionally, and often firearms were involved in disputes, the British regained control and assigned military units to patrol the roads and secure the region.35 According to available records, hostilities calmed due to three major factors: (1) rioting in neighboring Syria and Lebanon ceased, (2) Arabs realized the Jews possessed and would use firearms to defend themselves, and (3) the British government’s approach drastically changed. Unlike the previous lukewarm attitude of authorities, who investigated incidents “with negligence and forgiveness” and refrained from arresting known guilty parties, the new British Commissioner, Herbert Samuel, made sincere efforts to keep law and order; perpetrators were arrested, villages and tribal concentrations were fined and life returned to normal.36
A.3. "Events" in central Palestine/EI  
1. The central district

 In the early years of the British Mandate, most Bedouin tribes from rural areas had good relations with locals, Jews and Arabs alike. In the central district, Sheikh Shaker Abu-Kishk, for example, had good relations with local Jewish settlers; he consulted them on agricultural matters and conducted his financial affairs in Jewish banks he trusted in Tel-Aviv and Petah-Tikva. 37
The Bedouins appreciated the Jewish settlers’ contributions to their health in the late 19th century, as most established colonies that had grown into towns employed trained physicians and founded clinics where the Bedouins could receive medical attention. They also drained swamps, largely helping to eradicate malaria, and planted trees, helping to rehabilitate the land and restore its fertility. Sheikh Shaker Abu-Kishk also enjoyed positive relations with local Arabs. Dignitaries from all walks of life were graciously welcomed as guests in his tents, as were sheikhs of other Bedouin tribes from across the country and beyond, including prominent guests from Transjordan.38
     During the riots of the early 1920s, many Bedouins found themselves drawn into the Palestinian nationalist camp, as some had established alliances with prominent families and figures of the Palestinian nationalist movement. Others reasoned successful attacks might restore the glory they had previously enjoyed as fearless free spirits who dismissed all rules but their own, making other residents of the land subjects of their might. It is possible these repressed feelings supported the causal factors that brought Tuvia Ashkenazi to write, at the time, about tactics used by Arab nationalists to convince Bedouins to join in attacks on Jews and Jewish property in Tel-Aviv’s Jaffa area during the 1920s riots: 

The quintessential expression of the deterioration in the relations with the Bedouin ranks was seen in the known attacks of 1920 and 1921… The effendis, who saw their influence in the Sharon decrease, wanted to save their status and return to their previous prestigious stand, tried to organize groups and platoons of thieves and robbers to rob Jews and passersby.39 
2. The attack on Petah-Tikva

The unceasing public and private incitements of Palestinian nationalists found an attentive ear among some district Bedouins, as they were already disturbed by the Jewish settlement expansion and deterioration of their own status. Many were not pleased with the changes these developments brought. Thus, personal relations developed by the leadership no longer stopped the surge of emotions, especially when those who worked to stir them exhorted national and religious aspects and spoke about honor and the expected loot. Thus, when riots broke in the area in May 1921, many Bedouins participated.40
On May 1, 1921, many Jews celebrated the International Workers Day; two processions of Jewish workers and those who ideologically identified with them marched systematically through the streets to Tel-Aviv. The procession marching from the Sharon agriculture villages westward was led by the Zionist socialist party, Ahdut Ha-Avoda; the other, representing urban workers, was led by the local Communist Party (PKP). The second procession started in Jaffa and continued through the main streets, heading northward to Tel-Aviv. The British police blocked and dispersed the procession organized by the PKP, but the Arabs who were enraged by the mere fact that the Jews from other districts dared to march through “their” city, raided the streets of Jaffa and attacked Jewish shops and passers-by. This ignited the riots that spread rapidly throughout the region.41
The first incident in Jaffa was an attack on Jews who were on their way from Tel-Aviv to Petah-Tikva. On the following day, 500 Arabs employed by either the government or by Jewish employers did not attend work. Bedouins from the Abu-Kishk tribe were also absent, claiming the Sheikh ordered them to stay home. 42 The Abu-Kishk tribe lived north of the Yarkon river southwest of Petah-Tikva. The sheikh of the tribe, Mohamed Al-Fares, and his eldest son, Shaker Abu-Kishk, maintained good neighborly relations with the Jewish colony. They had an unwritten agreement to settle every dispute peacefully. This pact existed to a degree until 1920, when members of Al-Jamaa Al-Islamiyah Al-Messihiya (the Christian Moslem Society) began to visit the sheikh and incite him to revoke his pact with the Jews. They played on his national feelings and the wrongs he had to endure; they also tried to seduce him with the promise of rewards. According to reports, among other bait they promised him that after Petah-Tikva was overcome, the Jews would be gone, and he would receive specific houses and property, a beautiful girl, and the horse of Avraham Shapira.43 As was later revealed, Shaker Abu-Kishk had regular contact with the Arab nationalist circles in Jaffa during the early 1920s, while his father, Omar Al-Bitar Effendi, treated them as good friends. Soon members of Al-Jamaa Al-Islamiyah paid several visits to his home; they pressed the nationalist issue, bombarded their host with incitements and tempted him with promises and assurances.44 
The attack on Petah-Tikva took place on May 5, 1921. Unlike many other attacks, this was a well-planned operation, organized and commanded by Sheikh Najib, a charismatic leader from the village of Tyra, who recruited fighters from several area tribes and villages. The attack was pre-planned by Arab residents of Taibah and Tulkarem, who served as officers in the Ottoman army. The battle plan placed the Bedouins of the Abu-Kishk tribe as the advance force of the attack, although their own sheikh, Shaker Abu-Kishk, had reservations, as he knew the people of the colony and was not convinced the Bedouins could defeat them, however, other tribal dignitaries and leaders of independent clans affiliated with the tribe opposed him. According to reliable sources, Najib warned Shaker: “You should know that your men are coming. If you stay in your tent-you will lose your greatness”. 45 This attack that was to mark the forthcoming "events" was organized over time and was promoted by private talks and public incitements. Christian Moslem Society activists incited people throughout the country. The organization and mood building lasted for months; sheikhs, dervishes and other notables went from village to village, inciting villagers to attack Jewish communities.46 The headquarter of the Arabic forces was set in the Abu-Kishk compound, located barely five kilometers from Petah-Tikva. When Abu-Kishk decided to participate, he did so full-heartedly; forty sheep were slaughtered for a festive dinner before the attack. The plan was to kill all the colony’s residents, plunder all they could carry, and set the remains on fire. Camels laden with oil containers were assigned for this purpose. The attackers also “divided” among themselves the women of the colony.47 
On Thursday, May 5, 1921, the Arabs entered the Bahriya orchard, northeast of Petah-Tikva and opened a bloody attack on the colony. The attackers, armed with rifles and automatic firearms, advanced in an orderly manner, commanded by Sheikh Najib. The Abu-Kishk Bedouins, led by Shaker Abu-Kishk, served as the vanguard that spearheaded the attack, but since Petah-Tikva was well prepared to fend off the attack, they suffered the heaviest losses; many of the casualties, dead and wounded, were his tribemen.48
Petah-Tikva was not merely a small, newly established settlement. The colony, founded in the late 19th century by local urban Jews from Jerusalem and Jaffa, was a well-established, growing town. Its residents could not be easily scared; they were familiar with the occasional need to defend themselves and their property; they were confident in their prowess and relied on legendary figures like Avraham Shapira, Absalom Gisin, and other known guards to assume leadership, having no doubt that the colony would prevail. According to Palestinian journalist and writer Al-Safri, the Arab casualty list from the May 1921 attack on Petah-Tikva consisted of 80 dead, including 10 members of Arab Abu-Kishk, and 200 wounded. The official report of the government’s Enquiry Committee appointed after the incident claimed 28 Arabs died, 10 of whom were members of Arab Abu-Kishk. The committee report mentioned four Jewish fatalities. The report also cites the number injured as much fewer than that claimed by El-Safri, quoting the overall number at 27, 12 Jews and 15 Arabs.49 

El-Safri’s narration describes another incident that happened after the unsuccessful attack. Farmers from Petah-Tikva complained to British authorities that a herd of 400 sheep that was stolen during the attack had not been returned and informed the British commander, General Byron, that the stolen herd was seen near the residence of Sheikh Shaker Abu-Kishk. General Byron, the commander of the military forces in the Jaffa district, went to the Shaker Abu-Kishk residence, accompanied by substantial force, and demanded the sheikh surrender himself and order his people to give up all illegal firearms they possessed, warning that if his demands were not fulfilled, British forces would attack the tribe’s compound. The sheikh surrendered himself but did not surrender the weapons. He was sentenced to 15 years in prison but was released after 2 years following intervention by the Bedouin sheikhs from the Beer-Sheva district.50 Later, the former friendship between the Jews in the Sharon colonies and the local Bedouins reconciled, and the good neighborly relations they had prior to that incident resumed.

Another group of Bedouins from the central district who joined in the riots of 1920–1921 were from Arab Al-Jamsin, residing south of the Yarkon River near Sharona. They and a group from Arab Al-Jeramla, a tribe that obtained most of its income from robberies and plunder and that resided in the vicinity of Rosh-Ha-Ayin, participated in the 1921 riots that occurred in Jaffa and Tel-Aviv and in attacks on travelers and transports in the area. However, other Bedouin tribes, such as the Arab Al-Swalma, who lived north of the Yarkon river (west of the Abu-Kishk tribe), refused to participate in the plot against Jews. They even warned Avraham Shapira about the forthcoming attack and warned Shaker Abu-Kishk not to attack Petah-Tikva. Bedouins of the Sawarha tribe, who lived east of Petah-Tikva, also remained uninvolved.51 The British responded to the riots by declaring a state of emergency and prohibiting residents of both sides from carrying arms. Army units drawn from the British forces in Egypt reinforced the police and border guards, and a marine force patrolled the coasts from the Lebanese border to Gaza. Several men who were either captured during an attack or were known to be involved in the riots had been arrested, and a special court was set up in Jaffa to deal with them. These measures, along with others, and the failure of the two pre-planned grand attacks, significantly contributed to the riots subsiding. After the violence ceased, the British activated preventive measures, including imposing fines of 6,000 Egyptian pounds on the Wadi Hawarith and Abu-Kishk Bedouin tribes and on every village in which residents were known to have participated. That, along with the arms bearing prohibition, eradicated the surge of national enthusiasm in this region. The government’s harsh measures and new rules achieved the desired change, at least temporarily, but on the other hand, since the authorities wanted to appear neutral regarding the national conflict, they took reconciliatory measures toward the Arabs and collected firearms from the Jews as well and approved few permits to carry small arms for self-defense. They also officially declared Jewish immigration would be limited to an annual quota. This rule did not apply to Arab immigration, as most people who lived in the Middle East did not respect the new borders set by the colonial powers (Sykes-Picot Agreement) and kept moving, sometimes in great masses, across the newly drawn borders, according to political and economic circumstances. The first action taken against Jewish immigration was delaying the arrival of 150 immigrants, who had already been on their way to Palestine/EI.52
3. The riots in the Sharon district and the Coastal Plain

On May 6, 1921, the feast of Nabi Salah was celebrated. It was a grand event, celebrated annually in Ramla, drawing festive crowds. Muslim dignitaries assured authorities the festivities would be conducted properly; however, toward the end of the festivities, an excited mob was seen advancing toward the Jewish colony Rehovot, following the spreading of a false rumor that Jews had attacked the Arab village of Zarnuka. The British governor responded by summoning aerial help, while troops under his command dispersed in the orchards surrounding the colony. The farmers of Rehovot who were informed of the impending attack equipped themselves with clubs, pitchforks, and the like and were fortified by the colony’s youth commanded by Moshe Smilanski. Many in this group were veterans who had served in the Hebrew Brigade. The attack failed. Three Arabs were killed, while no Jews were wounded. Seventeen Arabs were detained on incitement charges but were released on bail.53 On the same day, a severe attack was carried out on the Jewish colony of Hadera. The attackers included several men of the Arab Damira, a Bedouin tribe that dwelt north of Hadera and was involved in perpetual disputes with the colony throughout the British Mandate period. During the 1948 War, the Bedouins left the area.54 Until the outbreak of the next wave of riots, called “the events of 1929”, there was relative calm in other lands in the region under British mandate.

B. The Bedouins’ participation in the “events” of 1929 

The “events” of 1929 broke out in Jerusalem on Friday, August 23, 1929, and spread quickly throughout the country. During these “events”, the Arabs attacked and took over the Jewish quarters in Hebron and Tzfat from people who had lived there for hundreds of years and refused to be protected by the Haganah. Other attackers conquered the villages of Motza, Hulda, Hartuv, and Kfar Urijah, small Jewish settlements in the Jerusalem district, and attacked two other Jewish villages with less success. These four villages and the small kibbutz of Ramat Rachel, on the outskirts of Jerusalem, were abandoned by their Jewish residents after some of the farming families were murdered by the attackers. Two of these small villages were burnt to the ground. 55 
The 1929 riots were concentrated mostly in and around Jerusalem and in Hebron, an area where almost no Bedouin tribes lived; however, fellahin and Bedouins from other parts of the country were called by the Palestinian national leadership to help their Arab brothers in Jerusalem, and some certainly did. For example, Bedouins from the Judean Desert travelled to Jerusalem and reported to the national Palestinian headquarters in the Al-Aqsa Masque court. 56
  Historical records of the time reveal that Bedouin warriors from the Sheikh Fraih Abu-Medeen tribe of Beer-Sheva considered going to Jerusalem to participate in the “events”; a cavalry force of 400 was about to set out when the sheikh received a telegram from Mr. Bailey, governor of Hebron, who was on a visit to England, advising him not to participate. The sheikh stopped his people and called off the initiative, as he later testified before the British Parliamentary Enquiry Committee of 1929. During his testimony, the sheikh was asked why he considered leading his troops to fight in Jerusalem. He answered candidly that Bedouin tribes of Beer-Sheba received false information that:

 “…the Jews killed Moslems during their prayer in the Harem "sacred place");the Jews want to destroy the holy mosque, and the people of Jerusalem expected the Bedouins to come to Jerusalem to help protect the holy sites, as not too many Arabs were living at that time in the city. The sheikh claimed that if Bedouins were summoned by the Grand Mufti or on his behalf, or by a recognized national institution, then ‘None of us would stay in the camp.”57
Interestingly, historical records indicate the Bedouin tribes that participated in the 1921 riots and were paid dearly refrained from joining the riots of 1929. For example, the Abu-Kishk tribe that led the attack on Petah-Tikva in 1921 took no part in the riots of 1929. Perhaps it was because they renewed their alliance with their Jewish neighbors, or, as Avraham Shapiro observed: ‘…they have not yet finished paying their fines from the 1921 events’;58 possibly, a combination of both. 

B.1. The 1929 “events” in the Sharon, the Coastal Plain and the South 

Unlike the ‘events’ of 1920–1921, in which the Sharon settlements, especially Hadera, endured fistfights with their Bedouin neighbors, the Sharon district saw almost no trouble in 1929. The area around Hadera and the Jezreel Valley to the northeast was calm. An attempt to incite hostilities in Afula was cancelled at the last minute, as a demonstration of 600 fellahin of nearby Arab villages did not reach the Jewish town and dispersed quietly. A few days later, there was another attempt to attack Afula. Muslim fellahin from the Jenin area organized a march toward Afula, but before reaching town, they were stopped by the Jezreel Valley Turkmen Bedouin sheikhs, who convinced them to return to Jernin.59 However, in the coastal plain things were different; thousands of local Arabs, including fellahin and Bedouins, separately and together, accompanied by women handling donkeys and camels to carry home the expected plunder, were deployed in various locations to attack nearby Jewish settlements. 

   Kibbutz Hulda, situated at the foot of Jerusalem hills, was attacked on August 26th. The defenders had fortified themselves in a large house and shot through its windows. The attackers burned the surrounding farmyard and burst into the chicken coop and cowsheds. Many of them were hit by the defenders, and one of the kibbutz members was killed, but it did not stop the plunder. When the British police arrived, they claimed they had insufficient manpower to hold back thousands of attackers and instructed the defenders to evacuate.60
    The Rehovot colony was a much larger settlement and known to have enough defenders; it suffered no harm in these events, so it became a shelter for survivors of more vulnerable settlements such as the evacuees from Kfar-Uriah and Hartuv, who were attacked by fellahin from nearby villages, and from the southern village of Beer-Tuvia, which was attacked by the Bedouins.  However, when the small village of Kfar-Uriah was attacked by fellahin, a friend of its residents, Sheikh Ismail Melhem of the Hirbat Beit-Partes tribe, who lived west of the settlement, stopped the attack, and he and his men defended the Jewish villages. In this case, as the Bedouins offered help and defended the village’s residents, the names of the fellahin attackers were known.61 The following is a testimony given by the Jewish farmer Baruch Yekimovski, a 28-year-old farmer from Kfar Uriah:

“On Saturday 24.8.29 there were seven men in the village, and the rest of them women and children […]. On the stated Saturday, in the morning, Sheikh Ismail Melhem arrived and told us that there were riots in Jerusalem, the road from Jerusalem to Jaffa was blocked and one should be prepared for trouble. He also asked to tell him if we would need help. He stressed, that he was confident in his heart that the neighbors were quiet people and they would not attack us, however, he proposed that we stand on guard and get word to him if there would be problems.”62
In the evening, neighboring Arab villages received instructions to attack Kfar Uriah and Hartuv. An Arab neighbor, whose cultivated lands bordered the village, advised Yekimovski to leave, as the attack “would not be only in order to rob, but also to kill”. Someone had notified Sheikh Ismail of the forthcoming attack, and he sent eight men to help the Jewish villagers.63 Zanvil Bornstein, a farmer from Beer-Tuvia stated, “On September 22, 1929, a car carrying inciters armed with loudspeakers reached the village of Beit Daras and incited villagers’ by announcing: ‘Arab blood was spilt in the streets of Jerusalem, and you sleep. Blood for blood!’”. 64 
On September 23, the same group of inciters drove to the village of Shafia, repeating the same announcement, accompanied by demands for local Arabs to help the Arabs in Jerusalem.65 On Sunday morning, an Arab warned his son, who was employed in the Jewish village of Beer Tuvia, to go home, as he would be in danger there. That afternoon, a large group of Arabs reached the village with flags and a megaphone. A sheikh accompanied by two policemen asked for a doctor to treat a wounded Arab. The doctor, Chaim Israeli, offered first aid to the man. This heroic act cost him his life, as the attack began while he was administering treatment. The village residents requested help but received none. When later questioned, the police claimed they had no available officers to send. When the Arabs realized no help was coming, they started shooting. The farmers congregated in the cowshed of Dvora Krakow and defended themselves with firearms. A farmer named Feibel Cohen, who tried to reach the cowshed, was wounded. A witness described the scene as follows: 

“I saw Arabs from the villages of Migdal, Hama, Beit Daras, Ashdod, Suafa, Faluga, and Bitanya go for the property: They broke doors and loaded everything they could on camels, they also took the horses and the carts of the village. When they finished looting, they set the houses on fire. They used petrol and such for that purpose. The police officer, who did not intervene in the robbery and did not prevent the arson, asked the farmers for their weapons. On the following morning, an English policeman appeared, arrested some rioters and transferred the wounded, women, and children to Rehovot. Two hours later all the rest of the people were evacuated.”66
Substantial evidence regarding the incident was gathered, and perpetrators were detained and stood trial. Sheikh Mohamed Hassan Dalul of Majdal, for example, was charged as follows: “…he stood by the threshing-floor, assembled his people around him, and incited them to attack the Jewish colonies”.67 According to the testimony of Arab policeman Rabbah Sidas from Majdal, a group of Bedouins took part in the attack on Beer Tuvia: 

“On Saturday of August 24, 1929, […] we saw that a mob was approaching; we, the policemen, and the Jews, went out and started to disperse them, but the throng had reorganized and surrounded the colony. It was a scary situation. The fire started at half past seven in the evening. By that time, the Jews, except for the doctor and another one, had congregated in one place. […] We found the doctor and the other missing Jew outside, both were dead. The congregated Jews demanded help…The surrounding crowd grew from moment to moment was robbery and murder and all the attackers were fellahin and Bedouins, all of them Moslems.”58
B.2. The Violent Events in Northern Palestine/EI on 1929 

On August 24, 1929, a day after the riots erupted in Jerusalem, several spontaneous and organized demonstrations occurred in the North, starting in Beit–Shean and spreading quickly westward and northward: telephone lines were cut, roads were , and tension was palpable.69A British report described measures taken to reimpose law and order as follows: 
“On 13.10. (1929), movement of Bedouins in the Jordan Valley, apparently on their way to attack Jewish settlements in the Valley, had been observed. […] We received a report saying that the Jews were attacked in Beit-Shean and twenty of them had been wounded.”70
Jezreel Valley Jewish settlements west of Beit-Shean were also attacked. On August 25, 400 Bedouins mostly from the Saker tribe led by tribal sheikh Ali Fares attacked Beit Alpha, but the kibbutz received reinforcement from the British army. A unit arrived from Transjordan; two attackers were killed, and the rest were repelled by the British army. The following morning the Arabs again attempted to attack Beit Alpha; however, a police force from Afula arrived, and 15 Bedouins were arrested. Their sheikh fought to release them but was shot and killed.71As the nearby kibbutz Heftsibah was also attacked, and attacks on Beit Alpha continued, the women and children of the kibbutz were evacuated to Givat Haviva, while the sick and wounded were transferred to a hospital in Tiberias. The Bedouins fled after setting fire in the threshing barn and cornfields. There was also an attack on Kfar Hittin, a Jewish village near Tiberias, that week. 72
Records indicate that leading sheikhs sought to stop the attacks in Beit-Shean, but the inflamed people rejected their intervention and scornfully accused them of “helping the government”.73 On August 26, the Bedouins, enraged by the death of their Sheikh Hassan Al-Talal, a leader of the Saker tribe,74 continued the riots in Beit-Shean. A fascinating testimony found in the private archive of Dov Yosef 75, written by Pesach Bar-Adon, a Jewish student from Jerusalem who had lived among the Bedouins and was like a brother to them describes the events of August 26 events in Beit-Shean, from a unique viewpoint: 

“After Passover of 1924, I went to live among the Bedouins of the Azawiya tribe, east of Beit-Shean. I lived among them as a shepherd, and they treated me like a friend and one of them. On Saturday, August the 24th, 1929, I returned to camp from the pasture and felt an unrest. I asked what was going on, but they were reluctant to answer […] On the following morning I saw a military car with armed soldiers pass on the road by the camp, which was extremely upsetting…”76 

Later, Bar-Adon was told the cause of the excitement was information that ‘a Jewish girl threw a bomb in the Mosque of Omar and people who were praying there were killed” 77. 
 Pesah Bar-Adon writes that he felt his Bedouin friends did not believe the story, but they warned him not to go to Beit-Shean, lest he be killed. The letter continues:

“The sheikh’s brother approached me and said: ‘You are our Itzhak, and we are responsible for your life’.  I entered the tent of my brother the Sheikh and met there several tribesmen and few visitors from Beit-Shean. The visitors told us that there had been riots and several Jews were wounded […] I asked him about the Valley and was told that yesterday he passed through by car and everything was burnt and robbed. The Bedouins raided the valley, he saw them leading the herds, stolen from Beit-Alpha to Afula, and claimed that not even one Jew remained in the Valley. I responded that it does not sound plausible because it is inconceivable that all the Jews left the valley. Afterwards some of my Bedouin brethren also commented that it could not be true.”78
Bar-Adon tells that his Bedouin brothers attempted to stop him from going to Beit-Shean to verify what had happened, but he went anyway. There he found that Jewish houses were closed or destroyed and that all Jews except two clerks, who remained in their office, had fled. These two told him that hundreds of Bedouins passed through Beit-Shean, and the authorities did nothing to stop them. They told him the governor asked Sheikh Mohamed Zanati of the Azawiya tribe to calm his tribe members, and he agreed, but when he realized that the Bedouins of the Beit-Shean area revolted, he withdrew his promise. At the end of his testimony, Bar-Adon relayed an interesting version of the "event"s: 
“The English are those who arranged everything; they played a game, they saw that the Arabs and the Jews were holding the ends of the rope and began to come closer, so they cut it in the middle".79
 During those days, about 20 Jewish settlements existed in Galilee, some small villages and others isolated and surrounded by Arab villages and Bedouin tribes. The riots struck most of them. The worst and bloodiest outburst occurred in Tzfat; the attack began on August 27, 1929, although by that time, riots had already subsided elsewhere. In 1929, the Jewish population of Tzfat was about 3,000, an enclave surrounded by approximately 10,000 Arabs. The Arab population in town was relatively small, comprised mainly of low ranking clerks, merchants, and fellahin who had moved into town for employment, but on and among the hills surrounding Tzfat dwelt several Bedouin tribes, including clans of the Al-Hib, Ghawarina, Muasi, Hussiniya, Hamdoun, Kdyria, Shmalna, Siad, Zangaria, Krad, Nimrat, Mhmdat, Zubeidat, Ziada, Samkhya and Zweilat.80 Official records reveal that during the attack on Tzfat’s Jewry, 18 of its people were killed and 80 wounded. In the nearby village of Ein-Zeitim, three more men were killed.81
Summation

 The study findings reveal that just as it was in the riots of 1921, some of the Bedouin tribes took active part in attacks against Jews, during the “events” of 1929, while others chose to stay neutral. Furthermore, historical records indicate that certain Bedouin tribes that played an active part in the “events” of the early 1920s remained neutral in 1929 for various reasons: some tribes were still recovering from the previous riots, either from military failure or from the heavy fines imposed by the British, others had renewed their good relations with their Jewish neighbors and chose to stay neutral, and some Bedouins opposed the leading trends of Palestinian politics or had a personal grudge against prominent Arab politicians and therefore chose to take no part in the “events”. Thus, areas that were inflamed in 1921 remained relatively quiet during the “events” of 1929, while areas that were not disturbed or hardly disturbed in 1920–1921 turned into conflict zones, and it took years to rebuild them. The three different political stances, the first, participation in the national Palestinian struggle, the second, neutrality and the third, co-existing and cooperating with the Jews, that had been consolidated during this period among various Bedouin tribes, continued to develop throughout the time of the British mandate and effects the civil status of these groups today.
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